IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

THE CARL RONNIE DARICEK LIVING TRUST

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-IA-01513-SCT

HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, ET AL

APPELLEES

CONSOLIDATED WITH

LISA K. FITCH, SANDRA K. GOODWIN AND ANN K. ENGLEHORN

APPELLANTS

VS.

NO. 2009-IA-01514-SCT

HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, ET AL

APPELLEES

CONSOLIDATED WITH

ERNEST BECKEMEYER, III

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-IA-01515-SCT

HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, ET AL

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS ON INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL (ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- (1) Whether the Board of Supervisors can condemn an interest in a parcel of property in the manner in which Hancock County acted in its Resolution of June 24, 2009, without making a monetary offer, without payment of any compensation, by considering benefits and without any type of Court proceeding.
- (2) Whether the Circuit Court erred in determining that there shall be a trial for jury or whether this matter should be remanded back to the Board of Supervisors with specific instructions to the Board of Supervisors that if they are going to condemn these properties they are going to have to start with a new Resolution and then file proceedings under Section 11-27-1 et seq. of the Mississippi Code and proceed with formal Eminent Domain proceedings as required by the Real Property Policies Acquisition Act.

- (3) Whether the Seawall Act, Section 65-33-1 et seq. of the Mississippi Code has been superseded and repealed by the Real Properties Acquisition Policies Act and by the requirements of Section 17 of the Mississippi Constitution.
- (4) Whether this Court should exercise the authority granted it by law and declare that the Appellants are entitled to Attorney's fees and expenses and establish a procedure to determine the same.
- (5) Whether this Honorable Court should remand this matter back to Circuit Court with directions to the Circuit Judge not only to direct the Board of Supervisors to begin a new proceeding for Eminent Domain under Section 11-27-1 et seq. of the Mississippi Code, but also to require the Circuit Court Judge to asses cost and Attorney's fees in favor of the Appellants pursuant to applicable Code Sections.
 - (6) Whether this Court should declare the Seawall Act unconstitutional.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellants are the owners of certain beach front property lying and being situated on the East side (water side) of Beach Boulevard in downtown area of Bay St. Louis, MS. Bay St. Louis is located in Hancock County, MS. The Beckemeyer property is waterfront property on which Mr. Beckemeyer operated a business prior to its destruction by Hurricane Katrina in 2005. The Beckemeyer property fronts Beach Boulevard and runs back to the existing Seawall, after which one would cross the beach and then be at the shore of the Bay of St. Louis. The Daricek property is waterfront property on which Mr. Daricek maintained his residence prior to its destruction by Hurricane Katrina in 2005. The Daricek property fronts Beach Boulevard and runs back to the existing Seawall, after which one would cross the beach and then be at the shore of the Bay of St. Louis. The Daricek and Beckemeyer properties are both zoned commercial. The Fitch property is zoned residential and is on the seaward side of Beach Boulevard.

After Hurricane Katrina the United States Corps of Engineers proposed to rebuild the Seawall slightly seaward from its present location. In order to do this it was necessary to have a construction easement over all three properties for a period of three years.

The Appellees, Hancock County and the Hancock County Road Protection Commission, without making any type of monetary offer, without due process of law, without the payment of any compensation and without any type of Court proceeding summarily condemned the property belong to the Appellants in a Resolution of the Board of Supervisors dated June 24, 2009, a copy of which is found under Tab 2 of the Appellants' Record Excerpts.

The Board of Supervisors, in adopting this Resolution, was apparently following the procedures set forth in the Seawall Act which is contained in the Mississippi Code in Sections 65-33-1 through 65-33-71. This act of the Legislature was initially adopted in 1924.

Section 65-33-31 of the Seawall Act provides that there shall be a publication in the newspaper to the property owner, after which the property owner must file a claim with the Board of Supervisors and Road Protection Commission. This publication was made and all three Appellants filed such a claim. Although it is believed that such claim was unnecessary due to the passage of the Real Property Acquisition Policies Act, nevertheless in order to protect their rights all three Appellants filed such a claim. One member of the Board of Supervisors then went to the properties and determined that the claims were unjustified and without further involvement of the Appellants the Board enacted the Resolution mentioned above. The Resolution was not signed as required by law. See Section 65-33-31.

Section 65-33-31 provides that "the Board" shall go to the premises and "assess the damages sustained" by the property owner. This Section does not provide for any safeguards of constitutionally or of due process of law, but merely says that the Board shall "assess the damages sustained by him".

Section 65-33-31 provides that the Board shall go to the premises, however, the Resolution (Tab 2) shows that only one member of the Board went to the property. This Section

of the Code then provides that the "findings of the Board shall be in writing, signed by the members agreeing to it..." A reading of the Resolution will show that none of the Board of Supervisors signed the Resolution. The Resolution merely states that "no payment is due to the landowner" and then states that the property is "hereby taken, dedicated and condemned for use as a road and/or Road Protection Devise as provided by law". The Board didn't even fully comply with Section 65-33-31 of the Code.

In order to protect their rights the Appellants filed Appeals within the time allowed by law. Due to the serious Constitutional issue, the Attorney General was notified pursuant the Rule 24 of the Rules of Civil Procedure. See Tab 3 of Appellants' Record Excerpts. The Appellees filed a Motion to expedite this matter and have the Appeal heard without a Bill of Exceptions and without the normal Briefing schedule called for in the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court practice, Rules 5.01 through 5.10.

The Appellants are not complaining that a formal Bill of Exceptions was not compiled and a briefing schedule was not allowed, for it is believed that the only thing really needed for this Appeal and the determination of this matter is the Resolution of the Board of Supervisors, which shows that this matter was handled in a manner contrary to the Requirement of Section 17 of the Mississippi Constitution and contrary to the mandatory requirements of the Real Property Acquisition Policies Act.

This expedited Appeal was heard before Judge Lawrence P. Bourgeois, Jr. on August 24, 2009, and he entered his ruling of August 31, 2009, from which this Appeal is taken. Copies of Judge Bourgeois' Orders are found under Tab 2 of the Appellants' Record Excerpts.

At this point the Appellant's will summarize the events that occurred prior to the Resolution of the Board of Supervisors condemning their property.

The first letters received by the property owners were dated August 8, 2008, and were from the Department of the Army, Corps of Engineers. This first letter informed the property owners that a three year construction easement would be required and enclosed an easement

conveying the property to the United States of America. This letter informed the property owners that an appraisal had been made, but that the seawall improvements offset the value of the easements. No copy of the appraisal or any breakdown of the appraisal was included. The property owners were never invited to offer any input into the appraisal.

The next letters were dated February 19, 2009, and they were from the Department of the Army, Corps of Engineers. They enclosed a revised easement, but no information regarding the appraisal.

The next time the landowners knew anything about what was going on is when a "Public Notice" came out in the Sea Coast Echo, a local Bay St. Louis newspaper. This notice was not addressed to any single land owner, but did mention the three land owners and the size of each temporary easement. No other details were contained therein except that the notice designated a 30 day period from March 21, 2009 to April 20, 2009 and gave the property owners 30 days after the expiration of this notice period to petition the Board of Supervisors setting forth the nature and character of the damages claimed. Although current Mississippi Law does not place the responsibility of making such a claim on the land owner (this is prohibited by Section 43-37-3(h)), nevertheless all three landowners filed a claim with the Board of Supervisors and Road Protection Commission of Hancock County, Mississippi, on May 15, 2009.

The next time the landowners heard from the Board of Supervisors was a notice dated May 26, 2009 and mailed May 27, 2009 telling them that the Board of Supervisors would go to the property on June 8, 2009 at 1:30 p.m. to assess damages.

The court will notice that the Resolution of the Board of Supervisors shows that only one Supervisor (Steve Seymour) went to the property. This is contrary to Section 65-33-31 which requires that the Board shall go to the premises and asses the damages sustained by the property owner. It should also be noted, as has been pointed out before, that the members agreeing to this Resolution did not sign as required by Section 65-33-31.

Therefore not only did the Board of Supervisors fail to follow the Seawall Act in the action it took, the Seawall Act itself is set up so that the land owner does not receive due process of law, and receives none of the guarantees set forth in the current version of Section of 43-37-3 of the Mississippi Code entitled Acquisition of Real Property and Publicly Funded Projects.

Section 43-37-3 of the Code starts off by stating that any agency or other entity acquiring real property shall comply with certain policies. Hancock County never made any effort to negotiate with the property owner. The property owners were never given opportunity to accompany the appraiser during his inspection of the property. No monetary offer was ever made. How could this possibly comply with the Mississippi Constitution that requires payment of due compensation? The owner was never provided a written statement or summary of the basis of the appraisal. The owner was expected to surrender possession of the property without the agreed purchase price being paid or deposited. It is sincerely suggested that the methodology used by Hancock County was coercive action to compel an agreement. Formal condemnation proceedings were never instituted. The property owner was intentionally made to institute legal proceedings to protect his property rights. How many ways can the property owners rights and constitutional promises be tramped upon and ignored?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In summary, the Seawall Act which is found under Section 65-33-1 et seq. of the Mississippi Code should be declared unconstitutional. The procedures set forth therein make it impossible for a landowner to receive due process of law or to receive just compensation as required by the Constitution.

As is pointed out herein, the matter of due compensation to be awarded pursuant to the Constitution is a Judicial question, not a Legislative question. How can this Court allow a statute to remain on the books that provides for notice by publication; which contains no provision for Judicial determination of due compensation and allows a star chamber proceeding

to occur similar to the one that occurred in this case. The Court needs to declare these Sections of the Code unconstitutional and we need to start over in this matter.

The States' Boards of Supervisors are given very limited Eminent Domain authority. The only time the Board of Supervisors can exercise this right is where it is specifically statutorily granted. Appellants will concede that it is specifically granted to them in the Seawall Act, however, the remainder of the Seawall Act allows them to act in the manner in which they acted in this case in a constitutionally unacceptable manner. It is therefore suggested that the entire procedure be declared unconstitutional and that the Board of Supervisors to be required to request the Legislature to enact new legislation if needed.

Therefore, this entire matter needs to be thrown out and no further proceedings had due to the lack of due process and/or constitutional protection being afforded in the Seawall Act.

This Court cannot constitutionally remand this back to the Circuit Court for a trial since due process was not afforded to the land owner in the first instance. Therefore this matter needs to start all over again. As will be mentioned, the Real Properties Policies Acquisition Act (Section 43-37-1 et seq. of the Mississippi Code) sets forth a specific set of rules before a landowner's property can be taken. It starts off with saying they must negotiate. They didn't negotiate. There must be an appraisal ever given or summarized to the Landowner. There was no appraisal. And so on and so on.

Furthermore, this Court, of its own Motion should remand this back to the Circuit Court for only one reason, other than to tell the Board of Supervisors that they must proceed in a constitutionally and statutorily approved manner, and that is to have a hearing to award the property owners, their Attorney's fees and expenses as provided by law. The Court's attention in that regard is invited to Section 11-27-37 of the Mississippi Code.

Therefore, in summary it is submitted that the Seawall Act should be declared unconstitutional and the Board of Supervisors should be admonished to proceed in this matter only as authorize by law and by the Constitution. Of course the landowners must be

compensated for this obvious violation of their constitutional and due process rights, under the self executing authority of the Constitution.

ARGUMENT

This matter involves some of the most fundamental rights known to our system of justice and which are protected not only by Sections 14 and 17 of our State Constitution, but also by many, many decisions of this Court and by the Real Property Acquisition Policies Act (Section 43-37-1 et seq. of the Mississippi Code). It is abundantly clear that the Seawall Act as applied by the Board of Supervisors does not comply with the Real Properties Acquisition Policies Act, nor did it come even near meeting the requirements of the Constitution.

At this point the Court is reminded that Section 17 of the Constitution is self executing in a situation where private property is concerned. See Williams V. Walley 295 So. 2d 286 (Miss 1974). In Williams vs. Walley p.288, the Court stated:

Section 17, Mississippi Constitution of 1890, provides that private property shall not be taken or damaged without first paying due compensation therefor. This section is self-executing, and the courts of the state are always open to provide a remedy for the expropriation of private property by the sovereign or any of it subdivisions. State Highway Commission v. Mason, 192 Miss. 576, 4 So.2d 345, 6 So.2d 468 (1941).

As already stated, when private property is taken without payment therefor, the courts are open to provide a remedy against the sovereign or any of it subdivisions. Otherwise section 17 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 would be meaningless. Section 17 guarantees the right, and section 24, of the Constitution assures that the courts are open to provide the remedy.

The Sections of the Code relied upon by Hancock County were initially enacted by the Mississippi Legislature in the year 1924. The Courts attention is invited to the laws of 1924, Chapter 319.

In 1972 the Mississippi Legislature enacted the Real Properties Acquisition Policies Act. See Sections 43-37-1 et seq. of the Mississippi Code. When this Act was first enacted in 1972 it

referred only to the use of Federal Funds. A number of years ago the Act was amended to referred to any public funds. In this case it would apply whether we are talking about regular Public Funds (County or State) or Federal Funds, since the Appellees admit that they are using Federal Funds in this case. Therefore, it is established that Public Funds are being used.

Section 43-37-3 of the Mississippi Code is entitled "Acquisition of Real Property in Publicly Funded Projects". This Section of the Code was amended in 2009, effective April 14, 2009.

Section 43-37-3 (as amended in 2009) starts off stating: "Any person, agency or other entity acquiring real property for any project or program in which public funds are used <u>shall</u> comply with the following policies: "(emphasis added). As the Court can see Section 43-37-3 is mandatory and Hancock County must follow each and every sub-Section thereof when condemning any part of a parcel of privately owned property.

In the Court below Hancock County emphasized that all that is involved are small tracts for a three year temporary easement. It appears that the County may be trying to impress upon the Court that there is not much of an interest in property being taken. Nevertheless it is an interest in property and it is protected by the Section 17 of our Constitution and by Section 43-37-3. Subsection (h) of 43-37-3 states "if an interest in real property is to be acquired by exercise of power of Eminent Domain, formal condemnation proceedings shall be instituted" (emphasis again added). It even goes further to say that the acquiring authority shall not intentionally make it necessary for an owner to institute legal proceedings to prove the fact of the taking of his Real Property. It seems that's all we need to cite to the Court for a reversal, but the Act goes further.

Section 43-37-3 makes the following things mandatory for the County before it can acquire an interest in the Appellant's property. These things are as follows:

(1) The County must negotiate with the owner.

- (2) The property must be appraised. The owner must be given an opportunity to accompany the appraiser to the property.
- (3) The priced paid must be no less than the negotiated price or the approved appraisal.
- (4) The owner of the property shall be submitted a written statement and a summary of the basis of the appraisal.
- (5) A property owner shall not be required to surrender possession of Real Property before the agreed price is paid or deposited.
- (6) In no event shall the time of condemnation be advanced or any other coercive action be taken to compel an agreement regarding the property.
- (7) No property can be condemned except upon the exercise of formal condemnation proceedings.
- (8) The acquiring authority shall not intentionally make it necessary for an owner to institute legal proceedings to prove the fact of the taking of his real property.

All of these things are made mandatory. There is no choice given to the County.

Please note that these proceedings must be carried out by Hancock County, not by the property owner. The procedure used by Hancock County violates almost every Section of this Act of the Mississippi Legislature. This, in and of itself, should stop this matter cold right now. The property owner should not be forced to file a claim for his Constitutional rights in view of the above mentioned Section of the Code.

With the possible exception of the right to liberty and the constitutional guarantees afforded those charged with a crime, no rights of citizens are more jealously protected than the right of individuals to own and enjoy their property.

Section 14 of the Mississippi Constitution provides as follows:

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property except by due process of law.

Section 17 of the Mississippi Constitution provides as follows:

Private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use, except on due compensation being first made to the owner or owners thereof, in a manner to be prescribed by law; and whenever an attempt is made to take private property for a use alleged to be public, the question whether the contemplated use be public shall be a judicial question, and, as such, determined without regard to legislative assertion that the use is public.

The awesome power of eminent domain is an attribute of sovereignty and is in derogation of the common law. Any Code Section conferring such right must be strictly construed. In <u>Wise v. Yazoo City</u>, 96 Miss. 507 (1910), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated as follows:

No power conferred on any corporation, either private or municipal, is to be more strictly construed than the power of eminent domain.

In these days of enormous property aggregation, where the power of eminent domain is pressed to such an extent, and when the urgency of so-called public improvements rests as a constant menace upon the sacredness of private property, no duty is more imperative than that of the strict enforcement of these constitutional provisions intended to protect every man in the possession of his own.

Eminent domain rights are attributes of sovereignty, to be exercised by the state with great caution and only in cases of public necessity. It is a power which sleeps in the bosom of the state until aroused into activity by an act of the legislature. This high power is never to be presumed to be confided to any public or private body or corporation, however, great may be the necessity for it to have and exercise such power. When it is asserted by any person or corporation, the state's assent must be clearly given in legislative acts, and the subjects for which it may be exercised specifically named. (Emphasis added)

Further, in this regard, the Supreme Court in <u>Ferguson v. Board of Supervisors</u>, 149 Miss. 624, 630 (1928), stated as follows:

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