IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

THE CARL RONNIE DARICEK LIVING TRUST

APPELLANT

VS.

2009-IA-01513-SCT

HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, ET AL

APPELLEES

CONSOLIDATED WITH

LISA K. FITCH, SANDRA K. GOODWIN
AND ANN K. ENGLEHORN

APPELLANTS

VS.

2009-IA-01514-SCT

HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, ET AL

APPELLEES

CONSOLIDATED WITH

ERNEST BECKEMEYER, III

APPELLANT

VS.

2009-IA-01515-SCT

HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, ET AL

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF
HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

BRIEF OF APPELLEES ON INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL

K. C. Hightower
Mississippi Bar No.: XXXXXXXXXX
Pittman, Howedeshell & Hinton, PLLC
140 Mayfair Road, Suite 700 (39402)

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

Exercising the Power of Eminent Domain

Substantive Right.

Generally speaking, there are two considerations that must be addressed in deciding whether or not the action of the Board, in acquiring the property of the landowners via eminent domain, was proper. First, is whether or not the Board possesses the *right* to exercise the power of eminent domain to acquire an interest in real property for the purpose of erecting a road protection device such as a seawall. , In these cases, the short

answer is yes, and that right is conveyed to the Board by Miss. Code Ann. § 65-33-23, which reads as follows:

"For the purpose of this chapter the several boards of supervisors are hereby clothed with the power and authority, and it is made their duty, to exercise the right of eminent domain in order to procure the right of way for such roads, streets, highways, sea walls, breakwaters, bulkheads, sloping beach, and such other devices as may be adopted for the protection of such highways. They shall have the power to pass all necessary ordinances for the preservation and protection of any such road, sea wall, sloping beach, or other device constructed hereunder, and the violation of such ordinances shall constitute, and be punished as, a misdemeanor."

It is not believed that the county's *right* to exercise the power of eminent domain is seriously questioned by the landowners as it is clear that the legislature intended to confer such a right upon the Board of Supervisors to be used for projects such as a the erection of a sea wall.

Procedural Requirements.

The second consideration, which appears to be the real issue in these cases, relates to what *procedure* should be employed when a county Board of Supervisors chooses to exercise the rights granted by Miss. Code Ann. § 65-33-23. The Board believes that question is clearly answered by reviewing Miss. Code Ann. § 11-27-1 together with Miss. Code Ann. § 65-33-31. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-27-1 reads as follows:

Any person or corporation having the right to condemn private property for public use shall exercise that right as provided for in

this chapter, **except as elsewhere specifically provided under the laws of the State of Mississippi.** (emphasis added.)

Miss. Code Ann. § 65-33-31 reads as follows:

"Whenever it shall become necessary to construct, widen, or protect any highway under the provisions hereof, the road protection commission shall make publication for thirty days in some newspaper published in the county wherein such improvements are made, setting forth the commencement and termination, with a general outline of the nature and extent thereof. When any owner of land or other person shall claim compensation for land taken for such purpose, or for damage sustained by the construction, widening, improvement, or protection of such road or highway, he shall petition the board of supervisors in writing within thirty days after the expiration of the time provided for such publication, setting forth the nature and character of the damages claimed. Thereupon the board shall, on five days' notice to petitioner, go on the premises and assess the damages sustained by him. The finding of the board shall be in writing, signed by the members agreeing to it, and must be entered on the minutes at the next meeting; but if the damages sustained and claimed be less than the cost of assessing, the board may allow the same without inquiry."

It appears to be the position of the landowners, based on previous filings, that while the Board has the *right* to exercise the power of eminent domain to acquire real property for the purpose of construction a sea wall, that in exercising that power, the Board should use the *procedure* set forth in Miss. Code Ann. § 11-27-1, rather than the procedure set forth Miss. Code Ann. § 65-33-31, as the former statute provides greater procedural safeguards for landowners, and/or the Seawall Act procedure violates the United States Constitution and the Mississippi Constitution.

Choice of Law.

The landowners have argued that the Board should have employed the condemnation procedure set forth in Miss. Code Ann. § 11-27-1 et seq., instead of the procedure set forth in Miss. Code Ann. § 65-33-31. This assertion is simply incorrect as 1) the statutes involved clearly mandate use of the Seawall Act in these cases, and 2) this Honorable Court has recognized that where the legislature has provided for a condemnation procedure to be used for a specific purpose, that such procedure is to be employed to the exclusion of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-27-1 et seq. See, *Branaman v. Long Beach Water Management District*, 730 So.2d 1146, 1149 (Miss. 1999). In that case, the City of Longbeach sought to condemn property for use as drainage easements, and they used a procedure enacted by legislature specifically for condemning property for drainage easements. *Branaman* at 1146. The landowners in that case made the same argument being advanced in these cases by claiming that Miss. Code Ann. § 11-27-1 et seq. provided more procedural safeguards than the statute created specifically for drainage easements (Miss. Code Ann. § 51-29-39), and therefore the City of Longbeach should have used Miss. Code Ann. § 11-27-1 et seq. This court rejected that argument by simply referring to the plain language of each statute and determining that each one, by its own terms, required utilization of Miss. Code Ann. § 51-29-39 when a condemnor seeks to condemn property to

be used as a drainage easement. *Id.* at 1149. This Court is faced with the same situation today. Specifically, Miss. Code Ann. § 11-27-1 requires condemnors to use the procedure set forth in Title 11, Chapter 27 "except as elsewhere specifically provided under the laws of the State of Mississippi". The Seawall Act specifically provides its own procedure for condemnation. As such, it is that procedure which is properly employed by a condemnor seeking to condemn property for a seawall.

Constitutionality of the Seawall Act Procedure

It is a worthwhile endeavor to consider several holdings of this court in *Branaman v. Long Beach Water Management District*, 730 So.2d 1146 (Miss. 1999) as the factual scenario in that case is very similar to the cases presently before the court. In *Branaman*, this court held, "the ultimate goal of eminent domain is to insure [sic] that landowners receive due process and just compensation" *Id.* at 1149. Moreover, "The power of eminent domain must be exercised in satisfaction of due process, including adequate notice and the opportunity to be heard.", *Id.*

General Considerations.

Importantly, the Seawall Act is a lawful, and valid enactment of the Mississippi legislature, and has not been repealed by that body, nor held to be unconstitutional by this Honorable Court. It is a well accepted principle of law that statutory enactments of

our legislature are presumptively constitutional. This Court held in *City of Belmont v. Mississippi Tax Com'n*, 860 So.2d 289 (Miss. 2003), "Legislative acts are cloaked with a presumption of constitutionality, and unconstitutionality must appear beyond reasonable doubt." Furthermore, the Seawall Act has been reviewed on at least two separate occasions, and has been found to be constitutional by the Supreme Court of Mississippi. The first case was *Ladner v. Road Protection Commission*, 116 So. 602 (Miss. 1928), and the second case was *Henritzky v. Harrison County*, 178 So. 322 (Miss. 1938). Admittedly, those cases dealt with the constitutionality of the statutes based on other questions, but contained within those cases was a discussion of the procedure that was followed by the Board in these cases, and the High Court took no issue with that procedure in each of its opinions. As such, the Supreme Court of this State has, at least implicitly, recognized the constitutionality of the procedure which was followed by the Board.

Specific Considerations.

Adequate Notice.

The condemnation procedure set forth in Miss. Code Ann. § 65-33-31 provides that "the road protection commission shall make publication for thirty days in some newspaper published in the county wherein such improvements are made, setting forth the commencement and termination, with a general outline of the nature

and extent thereof." *Id.* Additionally, Miss. Code Ann. § 65-33-5 requires the plans and specifications for the sea wall to be filed with Chancery Clerk of the County. In these cases, the Board published the statutory notice in the local newspaper for the requisite period of time. The published notice referred to the owners of these parcels specifically, and referenced that the plans and specifications were available for review in the Office of the Chancery Clerk of Hancock County, Mississippi. The notice was admitted into evidence during the consolidated hearing before the circuit judge. (Trans. P. 36, L. 4; Ex. 3) Unlike *Branaman*, the landowners in this case were afforded a full thirty day notice period, and while the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure do not apply to the proceedings before the Board of Supervisors, the fact that the statutory notice period is the same as M.R.C.P., Rule 4 related to notice by publication, strongly suggest that such a period is reasonable. It should also be noted that as these matters deal with proceedings *in rem*, notice by publication is appropriate. This legal procedure was initiated by the Board when it published its notice. The statute provides that at the termination of the thirty day notice period, any affected landowner shall file his claim for compensation with the Board of Supervisors, and shall have thirty days from the last day of the notice period to make such filing. Each of the landowners filed a timely claim with the Board. Clearly, the statute provides

sufficient notice, and in these cases, the landowners filed timely claims indicating that they actually received the notice.

Opportunity to Be Heard.

After an affected landowner files his timely claim with the Board of Supervisors, the Board shall, upon five days notice, enter upon the property of the claimant to assess the same for damages. In each of these cases actual notice was sent to counsel for each of the landowners, setting the date and time when the Board would enter upon his or her property. On June 8, 2009, a member of the Hancock County Board of Supervisors along with the Hancock County Tax Assessor/Collector, the Hancock County Chancery Clerk, the Board Attorney for Hancock County, an appraiser with the United States Corp of Engineers, the project manager with the United States Corp of Engineer, the land acquisition agent who had been dealing with the landowners prior to the commencement of the condemnation proceedings, as well as an engineer with the United States Corp of Engineers all traveled as a group to each of the three parcels at issue in this appeal. None of the affected landowners chose to attend. Nevertheless, the landowners in all three of these cases not only were heard through the filing of their complaints, but had an additional opportunity to be heard, on site, at their property. As such, the Seawall Act plainly affords any affected landowner the opportunity to be heard.

sufficient notice, and in these cases, the landowners filed timely claims indicating that they actually received the notice.

Opportunity to Be Heard.

After an affected landowner files his timely claim with the Board of Supervisors, the Board shall, upon five days notice, enter upon the property of the claimant to assess the same for damages. In each of these cases actual notice was sent to counsel for each of the landowners, setting the date and time when the Board would enter upon his or her property. On June 8, 2009, a member of the Hancock County Board of Supervisors along with the Hancock County Tax Assessor/Collector, the Hancock County Chancery Clerk, the Board Attorney for Hancock County, an appraiser with the United States Corp of Engineers, the project manager with the United States Corp of Engineer, the land acquisition agent who had been dealing with the landowners prior to the commencement of the condemnation proceedings, as well as counsel for the United States Corp of Engineers all traveled as a group to each of the three parcels at issue in this appeal. None of the affected landowners chose to attend. Nevertheless, the landowners in all three of these cases not only were heard through the filing of their complaints, but had an additional opportunity to be heard, on site, at their property. As such, the Seawall Act plainly affords any affected landowner the opportunity to be heard.

Following the inspection by the aforementioned individuals, it was determined that the specific benefit conferred upon each individual parcel caused an increase in the value of the parcel, and thus just compensation was determined to be zero dollars. In other words, it was determined that the temporary taking had actually increased the value of the property, rather than decreased the value of the property, thus, no sum was due. The Board then determined and resolved on its minutes that the landowners' property had been properly condemned, and placed in the hands of the county (Trans. P. 26, L. 15; Ex.1). As discussed in greater detail below, the Seawall Act, provides for additional due process by allowing for judicial review by the circuit court of the county. Therefore, as the procedure set forth by the Seawall Act provides adequate notice, and ample opportunity to be heard, it satisfies due process concerns, and thus the landowners have failed to demonstrate that the statute employed by the Board is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt, or stated another way, have failed to overcome the strong presumption of validity afforded statutory enactments of our legislature.

Just Compensation

The landowners assert that they have not received just compensation. However, their assertions are premature as they have not yet tried the issue of damages to a jury as contemplated by Miss. Code Ann. § 65-33-31 (1972). The statute allows for a

jury trial on damages. While the Board takes the position that just compensation in this matter is \$0, the landowners have every right to challenge that position both legally and factually, but it will require them to comply with the statute. The Board asserts that Miss. Code Ann. § 65-33-1, et seq. (1972) is the established law of this State. It is clear that the landowners would like the established law in these matters to be that procedure set forth in Miss. Code Ann. § 11-27-1, et seq., but as previously discussed, that is simply not the case, and even if it was, the Board does not believe that a determination of \$0 for just compensation is legally precluded by the laws of our State. In support of that position, the Board would compare Miss. Code Ann. § 11-27-21 (1972) which states:

In determining damages, if any, to the remainder if less than the whole of the Defendant's interest in property is taken, nothing shall be deducted there from on account of the supposed benefits incident to the public use for which the Petitioner seeks to acquire the property.

with Miss. Code Ann. § 65-33-1 et seq. Importantly, Miss. Code Ann. § 65-33-1 et seq. contains no such prohibition.

Additionally, the Board is not deducting from any amount that would otherwise be due the landowners in this case due to supposed benefits incident to the public use, but has in fact determined that the erection of the Seawall and all of the work and material that will be done in and on each specific parcel, will confer a

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